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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-Q 

xQUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended July 30, 2016 
OR

¨TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from                      to                     
Commission File Number 1-12107

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 31-1469076
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

6301 Fitch Path, New Albany, Ohio 43054
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (614) 283-6500
Not Applicable
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report) 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days.    x  Yes    ¨  No
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required
to submit and post such files).    x  Yes    ¨  No
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filerx Accelerated filer ¨
Non-accelerated filer ¨  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company¨
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).    ¨  Yes    x  No
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable
date.

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

1



Class A Common Stock Outstanding at September 1, 2016
$.01 Par Value 67,661,309 Shares

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

2



Table of Contents

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page No.
Part I. Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 3

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 4

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 5

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 6

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 17

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 35

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 36

Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 37

Item 1A. Risk Factors 37

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 37

Item 6. Exhibits 38

2

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

3



Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Thirteen Weeks
Ended Twenty-six Weeks Ended

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Net sales $783,160 $817,756 $1,468,643 $1,527,178
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization 306,053 307,894 565,815 605,767
Gross profit 477,107 509,862 902,828 921,411
Stores and distribution expense 382,917 389,193 752,035 780,831
Marketing, general and administrative expense 111,719 119,846 226,166 227,379
Restructuring benefit — — — (1,598 )
Asset impairment 6,356 — 6,356 6,133
Other operating income, net (13,080 ) (1,139 ) (16,013 ) (3,099 )
Operating (loss) income (10,805 ) 1,962 (65,716 ) (88,235 )
Interest expense, net 4,741 4,567 9,247 9,206
Loss before taxes (15,546 ) (2,605 ) (74,963 ) (97,441 )
Income tax benefit (3,515 ) (3,217 ) (24,302 ) (34,807 )
Net (loss) income (12,031 ) 612 (50,661 ) (62,634 )
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,098 1,422 2,055 1,422
Net loss attributable to A&F $(13,129 ) $(810 ) $(52,716 ) $(64,056 )

Net loss per share attributable to A&F
Basic $(0.19 ) $(0.01 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.92 )
Diluted $(0.19 ) $(0.01 ) $(0.78 ) $(0.92 )

Weighted-average shares outstanding
Basic 67,944 69,713 67,785 69,612
Diluted 67,944 69,713 67,785 69,612

Dividends declared per share $0.20 $0.20 $0.40 $0.40

Other comprehensive (loss) income
Foreign currency translation, net of tax $(7,361 ) $(9,856 ) $13,064 $(9,871 )
Derivative financial instruments, net of tax 6,575 (2,916 ) (3,380 ) (8,336 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income (786 ) (12,772 ) 9,684 (18,207 )
Comprehensive loss (12,817 ) (12,160 ) (40,977 ) (80,841 )
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Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,098 1,422 2,055 1,422
Comprehensive loss attributable to A&F $(13,915 ) $(13,582 ) $(43,032 ) $(82,263 )

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Thousands, except par value amounts)
(Unaudited)

July 30,
2016

January 30,
2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents $455,606 $588,578
Receivables 79,012 56,868
Inventories, net 453,175 436,701
Other current assets 108,878 96,833
Total current assets 1,096,671 1,178,980
Property and equipment, net 850,114 894,178
Other assets 385,605 359,881
Total assets $2,332,390 $2,433,039
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $180,834 $184,175
Accrued expenses 279,918 321,237
Short-term portion of deferred lease credits 21,962 23,303
Income taxes payable 15,162 5,988
Short-term portion of borrowings, net 1,468 —
Total current liabilities 499,344 534,703
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of deferred lease credits 79,877 89,256
Long-term portion of borrowings, net 285,528 286,235
Leasehold financing obligations 50,132 47,440
Other liabilities 185,285 179,683
Total long-term liabilities 600,822 602,614
Stockholders' equity
Class A Common Stock - $0.01 par value: 150,000 shares authorized and 103,300 shares
issued at each of July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016 1,033 1,033

Paid-in capital 394,925 407,029
Retained earnings 2,446,287 2,530,196
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (104,935 ) (114,619 )
Treasury stock, at average cost: 35,634 and 35,952 shares at July 30, 2016 and January 30,
2016, respectively (1,511,366 ) (1,532,576 )

Total Abercrombie & Fitch Co. stockholders' equity 1,225,944 1,291,063
Noncontrolling interests 6,280 4,659
Total stockholders' equity 1,232,224 1,295,722
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $2,332,390 $2,433,039
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The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Thousands)
(Unaudited)

Twenty-six Weeks
Ended
July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Operating activities
Net loss $(50,661 ) $(62,634 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 99,933 108,359
Asset impairment 6,356 6,133
Loss on disposal 1,336 4,447
Amortization of deferred lease credits (12,577 ) (14,624 )
Benefit from deferred income taxes (38,167 ) (34,745 )
Share-based compensation 11,000 14,083
Changes in assets and liabilities
Inventories (26,517 ) (18,560 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (35,922 ) 47,433
Lessor construction allowances 2,530 2,105
Income taxes 6,800 (35,556 )
Return of long-term lease deposit 22,801 —
Other assets (42,139 ) (16,529 )
Other liabilities (2,632 ) (20,665 )
Net cash used for operating activities (57,859 ) (20,753 )
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (58,009 ) (69,121 )
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 4,098 11,109
Net cash used for investing activities (53,911 ) (58,012 )
Financing activities
Repayments of borrowings — (1,500 )
Dividends paid (26,992 ) (27,785 )
Other financing activities (1,787 ) (1,053 )
Net cash used for financing activities (28,779 ) (30,338 )
Effect of exchange rates on cash 7,577 (3,294 )
Net decrease in cash and equivalents (132,972 ) (112,397 )
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period 588,578 520,708
Cash and equivalents, end of period $455,606 $408,311
Significant non-cash investing activities
Change in accrual for construction in progress $(4,744 ) $26,030
Supplemental information
Cash paid for interest $7,537 $7,740
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $19,041 $41,419
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The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nature of Business

Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (“A&F”), through its subsidiaries (collectively, A&F and its subsidiaries are referred to as
“Abercrombie & Fitch” or the “Company”), is a specialty retailer of branded apparel and accessories. The Company
operates stores in North America, Europe, Asia and the Middle East and direct-to-consumer operations in North
America, Europe and Asia that serve its customers throughout the world.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include historical financial statements of, and
transactions applicable to, the Company and reflect its assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company has interests in a United Arab Emirates business venture and in a Kuwait business venture with Majid
al Futtaim Fashion L.L.C. ("MAF"), each of which meets the definition of a variable interest entity (“VIE”). The
Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of these VIEs; therefore, the Company has consolidated the assets,
liabilities, results of operations and cash flows of these VIEs.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. All references herein to “Fiscal 2016” and “Fiscal
2015” represent the fifty-two week fiscal years ending on January 28, 2017 and ended on January 30, 2016,
respectively.

Interim Financial Statements

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of July 30, 2016, and for the thirteen and twenty-six week
periods ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015, are unaudited and are presented pursuant to the rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Accordingly, these Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto contained in
A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015 filed with the SEC on March 28, 2016. The January 30, 2016
consolidated balance sheet data, included herein, were derived from audited consolidated financial statements, but do
not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”).

In the opinion of management, the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all
adjustments (which are of a normal recurring nature) necessary to state fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position and results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods, but are not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations to be anticipated for Fiscal 2016.

6
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following table provides a brief description of recent accounting pronouncements that could affect the Company's
financial statements:

Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) Description Date of

Adoption

Effect on the Financial
Statements or Other
Significant Matters

Standards not yet adopted

ASU
2015-11, Simplifying
the Measurement of
Inventory

This update amends ASC 330, Inventory. The new
guidance applies to inventory measured using first-in,
first-out (FIFO) or average cost. Under this
amendment, inventory should be measured at the
lower of cost and net realizable value, which is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation.

January
29, 2017*

The adoption of this
amendment is not expected
to have a material impact
on the Company's
consolidated financial
statements.

ASU 2016-09,
Compensation—Stock
Compensation

This update amends ASC 718, Compensation. Under
the new guidance, simplified measures will be used
for accounting for income taxes, identifying statutory
tax withholding thresholds, and classifying tax effects
and taxes paid related to stock compensation. This
guidance also allows for entities to make a policy
election to estimate forfeitures or account for them
when they occur.

January
29, 2017*

The Company is currently
evaluating the method of
adoption and the impact
that this standard will have
on its consolidated
financial statements.

ASU 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

This update supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in ASC 605, Revenue Recognition. The
new guidance requires entities to recognize revenue
in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration which the entity expects to be entitled
to in exchange for those goods or services.

February
4, 2018

The Company is currently
evaluating the method of
adoption and the impact
that this standard will have
on its consolidated
financial statements.

ASU 2016-02, Leases

This update supersedes the leasing requirements in
ASC 840, Leases. The new guidance requires an
entity to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on
the balance sheet and disclose key leasing
information that depicts the lease rights and
obligations of an entity.

February
3, 2019*

The Company is currently
evaluating the method of
adoption and the impact
that this standard will have
on its consolidated
financial statements.

* Early adoption is permitted.

7
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2. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Net loss per basic and diluted share is computed based on the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of
common stock.

The following table presents weighted-average shares outstanding and anti-dilutive shares:
Thirteen Weeks
Ended

Twenty-six Weeks
Ended

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

Shares of common stock issued 103,300 103,300 103,300 103,300
Weighted-average treasury shares (35,356 ) (33,587 ) (35,515 ) (33,688 )
Weighted-average — basic shares 67,944 69,713 67,785 69,612
Dilutive effect of share-based compensation awards — — — —
Weighted-average — diluted shares 67,944 69,713 67,785 69,612
Anti-dilutive shares (1) 6,622 12,258 6,251 12,258

(1) Reflects the total number of shares related to outstanding share-based compensation awards that have been
excluded from the computation of net loss per diluted share because the impact would have been anti-dilutive.

3. FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The inputs used to measure fair value are prioritized based on a
three-level hierarchy. The three levels of inputs to measure fair value are as follows:

•Level 1—inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities that are available in active markets that the
Company can access at the measurement date.

•Level 2—inputs are other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities,
directly or indirectly.
•Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable.

The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy.
The three levels of the hierarchy and the distribution within it of the Company’s assets and liabilities, which are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, were as follows:

Assets and Liabilities at Fair
Value as of July 30, 2016

(in thousands) Level
1 Level 2 Level

3 Total

Assets:
Trust-owned life insurance policies (at cash surrender value) $— $98,113 $ —$98,113
Money market funds 23 — — 23
Derivative financial instruments — 3,645 — 3,645
Total assets $23 $101,758 $ —$101,781

Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments $— $2,867 $ —$2,867
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Assets at Fair Value as of January
30, 2016

(in thousands) Level 1 Level
2

Level
3 Total

Assets:
Money market funds $311,349 $— $ —$311,349
Derivative financial instruments — 4,166 — 4,166
Total assets $311,349 $4,166 $ —$315,515

The Level 2 assets and liabilities consist of derivative financial instruments, primarily forward foreign currency
exchange contracts. The fair value of forward foreign currency exchange contracts is determined by using quoted
market prices of the same or similar instruments, adjusted for counterparty risk.

8
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Fair value of borrowings:

The Company’s borrowings under the Company's credit facilities are carried at historical cost in the accompanying
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. For disclosure purposes, the Company estimated the fair value of
borrowings outstanding based on market rates for similar types of debt, which are considered to be Level 2 inputs.

The carrying amount and fair value of the Company's term loan facility were as follows:

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

January 30,
2016

Gross borrowings outstanding, carrying amount $293,250 $ 293,250
Gross borrowings outstanding, fair value $290,318 $ 284,453

No borrowings were outstanding under the Company's senior secured revolving credit facility as of July 30, 2016 or
January 30, 2016.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consisted of:

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

January 30,
2016

Property and equipment, at cost $2,825,737 $2,792,437
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,975,623 ) (1,898,259 )
Property and equipment, net $850,114 $894,178

Long-lived assets, primarily comprised of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, are tested for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the long-lived assets
might not be recoverable. These include, but are not limited to, material declines in operational performance, a history
of losses, an expectation of future losses, other than temporary adverse market conditions and store closure or
relocation decisions. On at least a quarterly basis, the Company reviews for indicators of impairment at the individual
store level, the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable.

Stores that display an indicator of impairment are subjected to an impairment assessment. The Company’s impairment
assessment requires management to make assumptions and judgments related, but not limited, to management's
expectations for future operations and projected cash flows. The key assumptions used in the Company's undiscounted
future cash flow models include sales, gross margin and, to a lesser extent, operating expenses.

An impairment loss would be recognized when these undiscounted future cash flows are less than carrying amount of
the asset group. In the circumstance of impairment, the loss would be measured as the excess of the carrying amount
of the asset group over its fair value. The key assumptions used in estimating the fair value of impaired assets may
include projected cash flows and discount rate.

In the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $6.4 million as it
was determined that the carrying value of certain store assets would not be recoverable and exceeded fair value. These
asset impairment charges are related to the Company's abercrombie kids flagship store in London.

In the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $6.1 million
related to a decision to remove certain store fixtures in connection with changes to the Abercrombie and Hollister
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store experiences, and a fair value adjustment related to the Company-owned aircraft which was sold in the second
quarter of Fiscal 2015.

The Company had $38.1 million and $37.3 million of construction project assets in property and equipment, net at
July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016, respectively, related to the construction of buildings in certain lease arrangements
where the Company is deemed to be the owner of the construction project.

9
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5. INCOME TAXES 

The Company’s quarterly tax provision and the estimate of the annual effective tax rate are subject to significant
variation due to several factors. These include variability in the pre-tax jurisdictional mix of earnings, changes in how
the Company does business including entering into new businesses or geographies, changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, changes in law, regulations, and administrative practices, relative changes of expenses or losses for
which tax benefits are not recognized and the impact of discrete items. The impact of these items on the effective tax
rate will be greater at lower levels of pre-tax income (loss).

6. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $4.4 million and $11.0 million for the thirteen and
twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016, respectively, and $7.2 million and $14.1 million for the thirteen and twenty-six
weeks ended August 1, 2015, respectively. The Company also recognized tax benefits related to share-based
compensation of $1.7 million and $4.1 million for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016,
respectively, and $2.5 million and $4.8 million for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015,
respectively.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016:
Number of
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Outstanding at January 30, 2016 271,000 $ 63.05
Granted — —
Exercised (2,000 ) 22.87
Forfeited or expired (19,200 ) 66.19
Outstanding at July 30, 2016 249,800 $ 63.13 $ 16,200 0.9
Stock options exercisable at July 30, 2016 249,800 $ 63.13 $ 16,200 0.9

Stock Appreciation Rights

The following table summarizes stock appreciation rights activity for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016:
Number of
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Outstanding at January 30, 2016 5,301,115 $ 45.02
Granted — —
Exercised (9,533 ) 22.46
Forfeited or expired (136,347 ) 30.68
Outstanding at July 30, 2016 5,155,235 $ 45.51 $ 55,187 2.6
Stock appreciation rights exercisable at July 30, 2016 4,548,819 $ 47.96 $ 594 1.9
Stock appreciation rights expected to become
exercisable in the future as of July 30, 2016 522,109 $ 27.40 $ 38,048 8.4

As of July 30, 2016, there was $6.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures,
related to stock appreciation rights. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a
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weighted-average period of 14 months.

The grant date fair value of stock appreciation rights that vested during the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and
August 1, 2015 was $4.0 million and $4.2 million, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes activity for restricted stock units for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016:
Service-based
Restricted
Stock Units

Performance-based
Restricted
Stock Units

Market-based
Restricted
Stock Units

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value

Number of 
Underlying
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value

Unvested at January 30, 2016 1,671,597 $ 28.13 185,500 $ 23.42 117,711 $ 25.00
Granted 1,028,888 26.07 112,398 27.20 112,406 34.12
Adjustments for performance achievement — — — — — —
Vested (576,387 ) 30.77 (32,625 ) 36.12 — —
Forfeited (166,539 ) 26.27 (78,677 ) 24.22 (62,553 ) 31.91
Unvested at July 30, 2016 1,957,559 $ 26.44 186,596 $ 23.14 167,564 $ 28.54

Fair value of both service-based and performance-based restricted stock units is calculated using the market price of
the underlying common stock on the date of grant reduced for anticipated dividend payments on unvested shares. In
determining fair value, the Company does not take into account performance-based vesting requirements.
Performance-based vesting requirements are taken into account in determining the number of awards expected to vest.
For market-based restricted stock units, fair value is calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation with the number of
shares that ultimately vest dependent on the Company's total stockholder return measured against the total stockholder
return of a select group of peer companies over a three-year period. For an award with performance-based or
market-based vesting requirements, the number of shares that ultimately vest can vary from 0% to 200% of target
depending on the level of achievement of performance criteria. Unvested shares related to restricted stock units with
performance-based vesting conditions are reflected at 100% of their target vesting amount in the table above.

Service-based restricted stock units are expensed on a straight-line basis over the total requisite service period, net of
forfeitures. Performance-based restricted stock units subject to graded vesting are expensed on an accelerated
attribution basis, net of forfeitures. Market-based restricted stock units without graded vesting features are expensed
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, net of forfeitures.

As of July 30, 2016, there was $48.8 million, $2.4 million and $3.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost,
net of estimated forfeitures, related to service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units,
respectively. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 17
months, 16 months and 15 months for service-based, performance-based and market-based restricted stock units,
respectively.

Additional information pertaining to restricted stock units for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1,
2015 follows:

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

Service-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $26,823 $20,009
Total grant date fair value of awards vested 17,735 16,906
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Performance-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $3,057 $2,278
Total grant date fair value of awards vested 1,178 1,861

Market-based restricted stock units:
Total grant date fair value of awards granted $3,835 $2,158
Total grant date fair value of awards vested — —

11
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The weighted-average assumptions used for market-based restricted stock units in the Monte Carlo simulation during
the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015 were as follows:

July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

Grant date market price $29.56 $22.46
Fair value $34.12 $19.04
Assumptions:
Price volatility 44 % 45 %
Expected term (years) 2.8 2.8
Risk-free interest rate 1.1 % 0.9 %
Dividend yield 2.8 % 3.5 %
Average volatility of peer companies 34.5 % 34.0 %
Average correlation coefficient of peer companies 0.3389 0.3288

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company is exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and uses derivative
instruments, primarily forward contracts, to manage the financial impacts of these exposures. The Company does not
use forward contracts to engage in currency speculation and does not enter into derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.

The Company uses derivative instruments, primarily forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges, to hedge the
foreign currency exposure associated with forecasted foreign-currency-denominated intercompany inventory sales to
foreign subsidiaries and the related settlement of the foreign-currency-denominated intercompany receivables.
Fluctuations in exchange rates will either increase or decrease the Company’s intercompany equivalent cash flows and
affect the Company’s U.S. Dollar earnings. Gains or losses on the foreign currency exchange forward contracts that are
used to hedge these exposures are expected to partially offset this variability. Foreign currency exchange forward
contracts represent agreements to exchange the currency of one country for the currency of another country at an
agreed upon settlement date. These forward contracts typically have a maximum term of twelve months. The sale of
the inventory to the Company’s customers will result in the reclassification of related derivative gains and losses that
are reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCL"). Substantially all of the unrealized gains or losses
related to designated cash flow hedges as of July 30, 2016 will be recognized in cost of sales, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization, over the next twelve months.

The Company presents its derivative assets and derivative liabilities at their gross fair values on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, our master netting and other similar arrangements allow net settlements under
certain conditions.

As of July 30, 2016, the Company had outstanding the following foreign currency exchange forward contracts that
were entered into to hedge either a portion, or all, of forecasted foreign-currency-denominated intercompany inventory
sales, the resulting settlement of the foreign-currency-denominated intercompany accounts receivable, or both:

(in thousands) Notional
Amount(1)

Euro $ 102,221
British pound $ 24,423
Canadian dollar $ 20,884
Japanese yen $ 11,225

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

20



(1) Amounts are reported in U.S. Dollars equivalent as of July 30, 2016.

The Company also uses foreign currency exchange forward contracts to hedge certain foreign-currency-denominated
net monetary assets/liabilities. Examples of monetary assets/liabilities include cash balances, receivables and
payables. Fluctuations in exchange rates result in transaction gains/(losses) being recorded in earnings as U.S. GAAP
requires that monetary assets/liabilities be remeasured at the spot exchange rate at quarter-end or upon settlement. The
Company has chosen not to apply hedge accounting to these instruments because there are no differences in the timing
of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instruments and the hedged items.
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As of July 30, 2016, the Company had outstanding the following foreign currency exchange forward contracts that
were entered into to hedge foreign-currency-denominated net monetary assets/liabilities:

(in thousands) Notional
Amount(1)

Euro $ 12,388
Swiss franc $ 4,044
British pound $ 984

(1) Amounts are reported in U.S. Dollars equivalent as of July 30, 2016.

The location and amounts of derivative fair values on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 30, 2016
and January 30, 2016 were as follows:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

(in thousands) Location July 30,
2016

January 30,
2016 Location July 30,

2016
January 30,
2016

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange forward
contracts

Other current
assets $ 3,645 $ 4,097 Accrued

expenses $ 2,570 $ —

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency exchange forward
contracts

Other current
assets $ — $ 69 Accrued

expenses $ 297 $ —

Total Other current
assets $ 3,645 $ 4,166 Accrued

expenses $ 2,867 $ —

Refer to Note 3, “FAIR VALUE,” for further discussion of the determination of the fair value of derivative financial
instruments.
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The location and amounts of derivative gains and losses for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and
August 1, 2015 on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss were as follows:

Thirteen Weeks
Ended

Twenty-six Weeks
Ended

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

(in thousands) Location Gain/(Loss)Gain/(Loss) Gain/(Loss)Gain/(Loss)
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign currency exchange forward contracts

Other
operating
income,
net

$ 618 $ 264 $ (1,159 ) $ 424

Effective Portion Ineffective Portion and Amount Excluded
from Effectiveness Testing

Amount of Gain
(Loss)
Recognized in OCI on
Derivative Contracts
(1)

Location of Gain
(Loss) Reclassified
from AOCL into
Earnings

Amount of Gain
(Loss)
Reclassified from
AOCL into
Earnings (2)

Location of Gain
Recognized in
Earnings
on Derivative
Contracts

Amount of Gain 
Recognized in Earnings on
Derivative Contracts
(3)

Thirteen Weeks Ended

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Foreign
currency
exchange
forward
contracts

$7,422 $ 2,167

Cost of sales,
exclusive of
depreciation and
amortization

$(204 ) $ 4,839 Other operating
income, net $ 259 $ 204

Twenty-six Weeks Ended

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

July 30,
2016

August
1, 2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Foreign
currency
exchange
forward
contracts

$(1,960) $ 2,386

Cost of sales,
exclusive of
depreciation and
amortization

$2,101 $ 10,875 Other operating
income, net $ 613 $ 239

(1) The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in spot rates.

(2) The amount represents the reclassification from AOCL into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings, which
is when merchandise is sold to the Company’s customers.

(3)
The amount represents the change in fair value of derivative contracts due to changes in the difference between the
spot price and forward price that is excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and, therefore, recognized
in earnings.
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8. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 was
as follows:

Thirteen Weeks Ended July 30, 2016

(in thousands)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivative
Financial
Instruments

Total

Beginning balance at April 30, 2016 $(98,771 ) $ (5,378 ) $(104,149)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (12,596 ) 7,422 (5,174 )
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss (1) — 204 204
Tax effect 5,235 (1,051 ) 4,184
Other comprehensive income (loss) (7,361 ) 6,575 (786 )
Ending balance at July 30, 2016 $(106,132) $ 1,197 $(104,935)

Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 30,
2016

(in thousands)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
on
Derivative
Financial
Instruments

Total

Beginning balance at January 30, 2016 $(119,196) $ 4,577 $(114,619)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications 13,064 (1,960 ) 11,104
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss (1) — (2,101 ) (2,101 )
Tax effect — 681 681
Other comprehensive (loss) income 13,064 (3,380 ) 9,684
Ending balance at July 30, 2016 $(106,132) $ 1,197 $(104,935)

(1)

For the thirteen weeks ended July 30, 2016, a gain was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to
the cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization line item on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss. For the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016, a loss was reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss to the cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization line item on
the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.

The activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015 was
as follows:

Thirteen Weeks Ended August 1,
2015

(in thousands) Unrealized
Gain
(Loss)
on
Derivative
Financial

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Total
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Instruments
Beginning balance at May 2, 2015 $7,680 $ (96,695 ) $(89,015 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 2,167 (9,856 ) (7,689 )
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss (2) (4,839 ) — (4,839 )
Tax effect (244 ) — (244 )
Other comprehensive loss (2,916 ) (9,856 ) (12,772 )
Ending balance at August 1, 2015 $4,764 $ (106,551 ) $(101,787)

Twenty-six Weeks Ended August
1, 2015

(in thousands)

Unrealized
Gain
(Loss) on
Derivative
Financial
Instruments

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Total

Beginning balance at January 31, 2015 $13,100 $ (96,680 ) $(83,580 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 2,386 (9,871 ) (7,485 )
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss (2) (10,875 ) — (10,875 )
Tax effect 153 — 153
Other comprehensive loss (8,336 ) (9,871 ) (18,207 )
Ending balance at August 1, 2015 $4,764 $ (106,551 ) $(101,787)

(2)
For the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015, a loss was reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss to cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization on the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
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9. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has two operating segments: Abercrombie, which includes the Company's Abercrombie & Fitch and
abercrombie kids brands; and Hollister. These operating segments have similar economic characteristics, classes of
consumers, products, and production and distribution methods, and have been aggregated into one reportable segment.

The following table provides the Company's net sales by operating segment for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks
ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015.

Thirteen Weeks
Ended

Twenty-six Weeks
Ended

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Abercrombie $363,076 $380,615 $686,412 $720,367
Hollister 420,084 437,141 782,231 806,811
Total $783,160 $817,756 $1,468,643 $1,527,178

The following table provides the Company’s net sales by geographic area for the thirteen and twenty-six weeks ended
July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015.

Thirteen Weeks
Ended

Twenty-six Weeks
Ended

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

United States $478,755 $514,526 $904,184 $963,415
Europe 193,070 200,150 354,527 366,234
Other 111,335 103,080 209,932 197,529
Total $783,160 $817,756 $1,468,643 $1,527,178

10. CONTINGENCIES

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other adversary proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and
the Company establishes reserves for the outcome of litigation where losses are deemed probable and reasonably
estimable. The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of additional
facts with respect to legal matters pending against the Company or determinations by judges, juries, administrative
agencies or other finders of fact that are not in accordance with the Company’s evaluation of claims. As of July 30,
2016, the Company had accrued charges of approximately $10 million for certain legal contingencies. In addition,
there are certain claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company for which accruals have not been
established. Actual liabilities may exceed the amounts reserved, and there can be no assurance that final resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Additionally, for the quarter ended July 30, 2016, the Company recognized a $12.3 million gain in other operating
income, net in connection with a settlement of certain economic loss claims associated with the April 2010 Deepwater
Horizon oil spill.
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ITEM 2.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

BUSINESS SUMMARY

The Company is a specialty retailer that operates stores in North America, Europe, Asia and the Middle East and
direct-to-consumer operations in North America, Europe and Asia that serve its customers throughout the world. The
Company sells casual sportswear apparel, including knit tops and woven shirts, graphic t-shirts, fleece, jeans and
woven pants, shorts, sweaters, and outerwear; personal care products; and accessories for men, women and kids under
the Abercrombie & Fitch, abercrombie kids and Hollister brands.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal years are designated in the consolidated
financial statements and notes by the calendar year in which the fiscal year commences. All references herein to “Fiscal
2016” represent the fifty-two week fiscal year that will end on January 28, 2017, and to “Fiscal 2015” represent the
fifty-two week fiscal year that ended January 30, 2016.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, net sales decreased 4% to $783.2 million from $817.8 million for the second
quarter of Fiscal 2015. The gross profit rate for the second quarter of Fiscal 2016 was 60.9% compared to 62.3% for
the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. Operating loss was $10.8 million for the second quarter of Fiscal 2016 compared to
operating income of $2.0 million for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. Net loss and net loss per diluted share
attributable to A&F were $13.1 million and $0.19, respectively, for the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, compared to net
loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $0.8 million and $0.01, respectively, for the second quarter
of Fiscal 2015.
For the Fiscal 2016 year-to-date period, net sales decreased 4% to $1.469 billion from $1.527 billion for the
comparable period of Fiscal 2015. The gross profit rate for the Fiscal 2016 year-to-date period was 61.5% compared
to 60.3% for the comparable period of Fiscal 2015. Operating loss was $65.7 million for the Fiscal 2016 year-to-date
period compared to $88.2 million for the comparable period of Fiscal 2015. Net loss and net loss per diluted share
attributable to A&F were $52.7 million and $0.78, respectively, for the Fiscal 2016 year-to-date period, compared to
net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $64.1 million and $0.92, respectively, for the comparable
period of Fiscal 2015.
Excluding certain items, the adjusted non-GAAP gross profit rate was 60.9%, operating loss was $16.7 million and net
loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $16.8 million and $0.25, respectively, for the second
quarter of 2016, compared to adjusted non-GAAP gross profit rate of 62.0%, operating income of $16.5 million, and
net income and net income per diluted share attributable to A&F of $8.6 million and $0.12, respectively, for the
second quarter of 2015. Excluding certain items, adjusted non-GAAP gross profit rate was 61.5%, operating loss was
$71.6 million and net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $56.4 million and $0.83,
respectively, for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, compared to adjusted non-GAAP gross profit rate of 61.9%,
operating loss of $35.9 million, and net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $28.6 million and
$0.41, respectively, for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.
As of July 30, 2016, the Company had $455.6 million in cash and equivalents, and $293.3 million in gross borrowings
outstanding under its term loan facility. Net cash used by operating activities was $57.9 million for the twenty-six
weeks ended July 30, 2016. The Company also used cash of $58.0 million for capital expenditures and $27.0 million
to pay dividends during the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes discussion of certain financial measures under "RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS" on both a GAAP and a non-GAAP basis. The Company believes that the non-GAAP financial
measures presented in this "ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS" are useful to investors as they provide a measure of the
Company’s operating performance as compared to historical periods, excluding the effect of certain items which the
Company believes do not reflect its future operating outlook, and therefore supplements investors' understanding of
comparability across periods. These non-GAAP financial measures should be used supplemental to, not as an
alternative to, the Company's GAAP financial results, and may not be the same as similar measures presented by other
companies.

Changes in comparable sales are calculated on a constant currency basis by converting prior year store and online
sales at current year exchange rates. For the purpose of this calculation, a store must have been open as the same brand
at least one year and its square footage must not have been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within the past
year.

In addition, the following financial measures are disclosed on a GAAP basis and, as applicable, on a non-GAAP basis
excluding items relating to asset impairment, claims settlement benefits, inventory write-down, net, legal settlement
charges, store fixture disposal, profit improvement initiative, lease termination and store closure costs and
restructuring benefit: cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization; gross profit; stores and distribution
expense; marketing, general and administrative expense; other operating income, net; operating (loss) income; income
tax (benefit) expense; effective tax rate; net loss attributable to A&F; and, net loss per diluted share attributable to
A&F. Certain of these GAAP and non-GAAP measures are also expressed as a percentage of net sales. The income
tax effect of non-GAAP items is calculated as the difference in income tax (benefit) expense with and without the
non-GAAP adjustments to income before income taxes based upon the tax laws and statutory income tax rates of the
affected tax jurisdictions. Management used these non-GAAP financial measures during the periods presented to
assess the Company's performance and to develop expectations for future operating performance.
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The tables below reconcile GAAP financial measures to non-GAAP financial measures for the thirteen and twenty-six
week periods ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015.

July 30, 2016

(in thousands, except gross profit rate and per share amounts) GAAP Excluded
Items(1) Non-GAAP

Thirteen Weeks Ended
Gross profit rate 60.9 % — % 60.9 %
Operating loss $(10,805) $(5,926) $(16,731 )
Net loss attributable to A&F $(13,129) $(3,679) $(16,808 )
Net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F $(0.19 ) $(0.06 ) $(0.25 )

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
Gross profit rate 61.5 % — % 61.5 %
Operating loss $(65,716) $(5,926) $(71,642 )
Net loss attributable to A&F $(52,716) $(3,679) $(56,395 )
Net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F $(0.78 ) $(0.05 ) $(0.83 )

August 1, 2015

(in thousands, except gross profit rate and per share amounts) GAAP Excluded
Items(1) Non-GAAP

Thirteen Weeks Ended
Gross profit rate 62.3 % (0.3 )% 62.0 %
Operating income $1,962 $14,526 $16,488
Net (loss) income attributable to A&F $(810 ) $9,407 $8,597
Net (loss) income per diluted share attributable to A&F $(0.01 ) $0.13 $0.12

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
Gross profit rate 60.3 % 1.6  % 61.9 %
Operating loss $(88,235) $52,380 $(35,855 )
Net loss attributable to A&F $(64,056) $35,479 $(28,577 )
Net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F $(0.92 ) $0.51 $(0.41 )

(1) Refer to "RESULTS OF OPERATIONS" for details on excluded items.

Due to the seasonal nature of the retail apparel industry, the results of operations for any current period are not
necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year. The seasonality of the Company’s operations may
also lead to significant fluctuations in certain asset and liability accounts.
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CURRENT TRENDS AND OUTLOOK

Traffic remained a significant headwind for the second quarter of Fiscal 2016 as flagship and tourist stores, which are
concentrated in the Abercrombie brand, accounted for the vast majority of the comparable sales decline across brands
and geographies. Comparable sales improvement from the first quarter in international markets, driven by a recovery
in the Hollister European business, including in the U.K., was offset by a decline in the U.S. trend. In addition, we saw
strong growth in our direct-to-consumer business, both domestically and internationally.

During the quarter, we began to roll out programs that reflect our new brand positions for both the Abercrombie and
Hollister brands. Our goal for Abercrombie is to be the iconic American casual luxury brand for today's
twenty-something consumer, and our goal for Hollister is to be the iconic brand of the global teenage consumer.
While still in the early stages, a clearly defined brand image and voice is beginning to be communicated across all
customer touch points.

As we look to the rest of the year, we expect the environment to remain challenging with flagship and tourist locations
continuing to weigh on the business. We are confident, however, that we are focusing on the right priorities and we
expect to see traction in our business over time as we introduce new product and invest in marketing to drive
awareness and relevance for our brands.

For Fiscal 2016, we now expect:

•Comparable sales to remain challenging through the second half of the year, with a disproportionate effect from
flagship and tourist locations.
•Adverse effects from foreign currency exchange rates on sales and operating income.

•A gross margin rate flat to last year's adjusted non-GAAP rate of 61.9%, but down in the third quarter due to adverse
effects from foreign currency.

•Operating expense dollars to be down slightly to last year's adjusted non-GAAP operating expense, with investments
in marketing, skewed towards the third quarter, offset by savings from expense reduction efforts
•An effective tax rate in the mid-to-upper 30s.
•Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests of approximately $5 million 

•A weighted average diluted share count of approximately 68 million shares, excluding the effect of potential share
buybacks.

We expect capital expenditures to be at the low end of the range of $150 million to $175 million for the full year.

We plan to open approximately 15 new stores in Fiscal 2016, including approximately 10 in international markets,
primarily China, and approximately five in the U.S. We also plan to open six new outlet stores, primarily in the U.S.
In addition, we anticipate closing up to 60 stores in the U.S. during the fiscal year through natural lease expirations.

Excluded from our outlook are the effects of certain potential items, including, but not limited to, insurance recoveries
and impairments.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

STORE ACTIVITY

Store count and gross square footage by brand for the thirteen weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015,
respectively, were as follows:

Abercrombie (1)(2) Hollister (3) Total
United
States International United

States International United
States International

April 30, 2016 334 39 411 141 745 180
New 1 — 1 2 2 2
Closed (2 ) — (1 ) — (3 ) —
July 30, 2016 333 39 411 143 744 182
Gross square feet (in thousands):
July 30, 2016 2,554 619 2,830 1,206 5,384 1,825

Abercrombie (1) Hollister Total
United
States International United

States International United
States International

May 2, 2015 354 33 432 137 786 170
New 1 1 — 2 1 3
Closed (1 ) — (3 ) (2 ) (4 ) (2 )
August 1, 2015 354 34 429 137 783 171
Gross square feet (in thousands):
August 1, 2015 2,728 571 2,955 1,182 5,683 1,753

(1) Includes Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands.

(2) Excludes one international franchise store as of July 30, 2016 and April 30, 2016.

(3) Excludes two international franchise stores as of July 30, 2016 and April 30, 2016.

21

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

33



Table of Contents

Store count and gross square footage by brand for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015,
respectively, were as follows:

Abercrombie (1)(2) Hollister (3) Total
United
States International United

States International United
States International

January 30, 2016 340 39 414 139 754 178
New 2 — 1 4 3 4
Closed (9 ) — (4 ) — (13 ) —
July 30, 2016 333 39 411 143 744 182
Gross square feet (in thousands):
July 30, 2016 2,554 619 2,830 1,206 5,384 1,825

Abercrombie (1) Hollister Total
United
States International United

States International United
States International

January 31, 2015 361 32 433 135 794 167
New 4 2 — 4 4 6
Closed (11 ) — (4 ) (2 ) (15 ) (2 )
August 1, 2015 354 34 429 137 783 171
Gross square feet (in thousands):
August 1, 2015 2,728 571 2,955 1,182 5,683 1,753

(1) Includes Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands.

(2) Excludes one international franchise store as of July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016.

(3) Excludes two international franchise stores as of July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016.
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Net Sales
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) Net Sales
Change in
Comparable
Sales(1)

Net Sales
Change in
Comparable
Sales(1)

Net Sales
$ Change

Net Sales
% Change

Abercrombie(2) $363,076 (7)% $380,615 (7)% $(17,539) (5)%
Hollister 420,084 (2)% 437,141 (1)% (17,057 ) (4)%
Total net sales $783,160 (4)% $817,756 (4)% $(34,596) (4)%

U.S. $478,755 (4)% $514,526 (4)% $(35,771) (7)%
International 304,405 (4)% 303,230 (4)% 1,175 —%
Total net sales $783,160 (4)% $817,756 (4)% $(34,596) (4)%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) Net Sales
Change in
Comparable
Sales(1)

Net Sales
Change in
Comparable
Sales(1)

Net Sales
$ Change

Net Sales
% Change

Abercrombie(2) $686,412 (7)% $720,367 (8)% $(33,955) (5)%
Hollister 782,231 (1)% 806,811 (4)% (24,580 ) (3)%
Total net sales $1,468,643 (4)% $1,527,178 (6)% $(58,535) (4)%

U.S. $904,184 (3)% $963,415 (6)% $(59,231) (6)%
International 564,459 (5)% 563,763 (6)% 696 —%
Total net sales $1,468,643 (4)% $1,527,178 (6)% $(58,535) (4)%

(1)

Changes in comparable sales are calculated on a constant currency basis by converting prior year store and online
sales at current year exchange rates. For the purpose of this calculation, a store must have been open as the same
brand at least one year and its square footage must not have been expanded or reduced by more than 20% within
the past year.

(2) Includes Abercrombie & Fitch and abercrombie kids brands.

For the second quarter and year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, net sales decreased 4% compared to the second quarter
and year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, primarily attributable to a 4% decrease in comparable sales in each period,
mainly driven by flagship and tourist stores across both brands and geographies.

23

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

35



Table of Contents

Cost of Sales, Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net
Sales

% of Net
Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization $306,053 39.1% $307,894 37.7%
Recovery on inventory write-down — —% 2,621 0.3%
Adjusted non-GAAP cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization $306,053 39.1% $310,515 38.0%

Gross profit $477,107 60.9% $509,862 62.3%
Recovery on inventory write-down — —% (2,621 ) (0.3)%
Adjusted non-GAAP gross profit $477,107 60.9% $507,241 62.0%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net
Sales

% of Net
Sales

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization $565,815 38.5% $605,767 39.7%
Inventory write-down, net(1) — —% (24,240 ) (1.6)%
Adjusted non-GAAP cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization $565,815 38.5% $581,527 38.1%

Gross profit $902,828 61.5% $921,411 60.3%
Inventory write-down, net(1) — —% 24,240 1.6%
Adjusted non-GAAP gross profit $902,828 61.5% $945,651 61.9%

(1) Inventory write-down charges related to a first quarter of Fiscal 2015 decision to accelerate the disposition of
certain aged merchandise, net of recoveries realized during the second quarter Fiscal 2015.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of net
sales increased by approximately 140 basis points as compared to the second quarter of Fiscal 2015, primarily due to
the adverse effects from changes in foreign currency exchange rates of approximately 90 basis points and the net
impact of higher average unit costs partially offset by higher average unit retails. Excluding certain items, presented in
the table above, second quarter Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization, as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 110 basis points as compared to the second
quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of
net sales decreased by approximately 110 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, which
included a $24.2 million, net inventory write-down. Excluding the $24.2 million, net inventory write-down,
year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, as a percentage
of net sales increased by approximately 40 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015,
primarily due to the adverse effects from changes in foreign currency exchange rates of approximately 80 basis points
and the net impact of higher average unit cost partially offset by higher average unit retails.
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Stores and Distribution Expense
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net
Sales

Stores and distribution expense $ 382,917 48.9% $ 389,193 47.6%
Store fixture disposal — —% (2,236 ) (0.3)%
Recovery on store closure costs — —% 842 0.1%
Adjusted non-GAAP stores and distribution expense $ 382,917 48.9% $ 387,799 47.4%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Stores and distribution expense $752,035 51.2% $780,831 51.1%
Store fixture disposal — —% (3,617 ) (0.2)%
Lease termination and store closure costs — —% (1,756 ) (0.1)%
Charges related to the Company's profit improvement initiative — —% (709 ) —%
Adjusted non-GAAP stores and distribution expense $752,035 51.2% $774,749 50.7%

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, stores and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales increased by
approximately 130 basis points as compared to the second quarter of Fiscal 2015, primarily due to the deleveraging
effect of negative comparable sales and higher direct-to-consumer expense, partially offset by expense reduction
efforts. Excluding certain items, presented in the table above, second quarter Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP stores
and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 150 basis points as compared to the
second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, stores and distribution expense as a percentage of net sales increased by
approximately 10 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, primarily due to the deleveraging
effect from negative comparable sales and higher direct-to-consumer expense, partially offset by expense reduction
efforts. Excluding certain items, presented in the table above, year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP stores and
distribution expense as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 50 basis points as compared to the
year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, shipping and handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and
prepare product for shipment and costs incurred to physically move product to the customer, associated with
direct-to-consumer operations were $27.4 million as compared to $25.7 million for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.
For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, shipping and handling costs were $50.2 million as compared to $47.8
million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, handling costs, including costs incurred to store, move and prepare product for
shipment to stores, were $10.3 million as compared to $11.0 million for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. For the
year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, handling costs were $20.7 million as compared to $21.9 million for the
year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.

Shipping and handling costs are included in stores and distribution expense on the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
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Marketing, General and Administrative Expense
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Marketing, general and administrative expense $111,719 14.3% $119,846 14.7%
Legal settlement charges — —% (15,753 ) (1.9)%
Adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative
expense $111,719 14.3% $104,093 12.7%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Marketing, general and administrative expense $226,166 15.4% $227,379 14.9%
Legal settlement charges — —% (15,753 ) (1.0)%
Profit improvement initiative — —% (1,770 ) (0.1)%
Adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative
expense $226,166 15.4% $209,856 13.7%

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales
decreased by approximately 40 basis points as compared to the second quarter of Fiscal 2015, which included $15.8
million of legal settlement charges. Excluding the $15.8 million of legal settlement charges, second quarter Fiscal
2016 adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales increased by
approximately 150 basis points as compared to the second quarter of Fiscal 2015, primarily due to higher marketing
and other expenses and the deleveraging effect from negative comparable sales.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales
increased by approximately 50 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, which included
$15.8 million of legal settlement charges. Excluding certain items, presented in the table above, year-to-date Fiscal
2016 adjusted non-GAAP marketing, general and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales increased by
approximately 170 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, primarily due to higher
marketing and other expenses and the deleveraging effect from negative comparable sales.

Restructuring Benefit

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, benefits associated with the restructuring of the Gilly Hicks brand
were $1.6 million.

Asset Impairment

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $6.4 million
related to the Company's abercrombie kids flagship store in London, compared to none for the second quarter of Fiscal
2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, the Company incurred non-cash asset impairment charges of $6.4 million
compared to $6.1 million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015. For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, the
asset impairment charges primarily related to a decision to remove certain store fixtures in connection with changes to
the Abercrombie and Hollister store experiences.
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Other Operating Income, Net
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Other operating income, net $13,080 1.7% $1,139 0.1%
Claims settlement benefits (1) (12,282 ) (1.6)% — —%
Adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net $798 0.1% $1,139 0.1%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Other operating income, net $16,013 1.1% $3,099 0.2%
Claims settlement benefits (1) (12,282 ) (0.8)% — —%
Adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net $3,731 0.3% $3,099 0.2%

(1) Includes benefits related to related to a settlement of certain economic loss claims associated with the April 2010
Deepwater Horizon oil spill.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, other operating income, net was $13.1 million and included $12.3 million of
claims settlement benefits, as compared to $1.1 million for the second quarter Fiscal 2015. Excluding the $12.3
million of claims settlement benefits, second quarter Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net as a
percentage of net sales was approximately flat as compared to the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, other operating income, net was $16.0 million and included $12.3 million
of claims settlement benefits, as compared to $3.1 million for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015. Excluding the
$12.3 million of claims settlement benefits, year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP other operating income, net
as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 10 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of
Fiscal 2015.
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Operating (Loss) Income
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Operating (loss) income $(10,805) (1.4)% $1,962 0.2%
Asset impairment (1) 6,356 0.8% — —%
Claims settlement benefits (2) (12,282 ) (1.6)% — —%
Legal settlement charges (3) — —% 15,753 1.9%
Recovery on inventory write-down (4) — —% (2,621 ) (0.3)%
Store fixture disposal — —% 2,236 0.3%
Recovery on store closure costs — —% (842 ) (0.1)%
Adjusted non-GAAP operating (loss) income $(16,731) (2.1)% $16,488 2.0%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Operating loss $(65,716) (4.5)% $(88,235) (5.8)%
Asset impairment (1) 6,356 0.4% 6,133 0.4%
Claims settlement benefits (2) (12,282 ) (0.8)% — —%
Inventory write-down, net (4) — —% 24,240 1.6%
Legal settlement charges (3) — —% 15,753 1.0%
Store fixture disposal — —% 3,617 0.2%
Profit improvement initiative — —% 2,479 0.2%
Lease termination and store closures costs — —% 1,756 0.1%
Restructuring benefit — —% (1,598 ) (0.1)%
Adjusted non-GAAP operating loss $(71,642) (4.9)% $(35,855) (2.3)%

(1) Includes charges related to store asset impairment.

(2) Includes benefits related to related to a settlement of certain economic loss claims associated with the April 2010
Deepwater Horizon oil spill.

(3) Accrued expense for certain proposed legal settlements.

(4) Includes inventory write-down charge related to a decision to accelerate the disposition of certain aged
merchandise, net of recoveries.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, the Company incurred an operating loss as a percent of net sales of
approximately 140 basis points as compared to operating income as a percent of net sales of approximately 20 basis
points for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. The year-over-year change in rate was primarily driven by the
deleveraging effect from negative comparable sales, a reduction in the gross profit rate and higher marketing and
direct-to-consumer expenses, partially offset by the net year-over-year impact of certain items presented in the above
table. Excluding certain items, presented in the table above, second quarter of Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP
operating loss as a percentage of net sales was approximately 210 basis points as compared to adjusted non-GAAP
operating income as a percentage of net sales of approximately 200 basis points for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, operating loss as a percentage of net sales decreased by approximately 130
basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015, primarily driven by the deleveraging effect from
negative comparable sales, a reduction in the gross profit rate and higher marketing and direct-to-consumer expenses,
partially offset by the net year-over-year impact of certain items presented in the above table and expense reduction
efforts. Excluding certain items, presented in the table above, year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP operating
loss as a percentage of net sales increased by approximately 250 basis points as compared to the year-to-date period of
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Interest Expense, Net
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Interest expense $5,734 0.7% $5,657 0.7%
Interest income (993 ) (0.1)% (1,090 ) (0.1)%
Interest expense, net $4,741 0.6% $4,567 0.6%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands) % of Net Sales % of Net Sales
Interest expense $11,347 0.8% $11,324 0.7%
Interest income (2,100 ) (0.1)% (2,118 ) (0.1)%
Interest expense, net $9,247 0.6% $9,206 0.6%

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense
Thirteen Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands, except ratios) Effective Tax Rate Effective Tax Rate
Income tax benefit $(3,515) 22.6% $(3,217) 123.5%
Tax effect of excluded items(1) (2,247 ) 5,119
Adjusted non-GAAP income tax (benefit) expense $(5,762) 26.8% $1,902 16.0%

Twenty-six Weeks Ended
July 30, 2016 August 1, 2015

(in thousands, except ratios) Effective Tax Rate Effective Tax Rate
Income tax benefit $(24,302) 32.4% $(34,807) 35.7%
Tax effect of excluded items(1) (2,247 ) 16,901
Adjusted non-GAAP income tax benefit $(26,549) 32.8% $(17,906) 39.7%

(1) Refer to "Operating (Loss) Income" for details of excluded items. The Company computed the tax effect of
excluded items based on non-GAAP pre-tax (loss) income.

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, the effective tax rate was 22.6% as compared to 123.5% for the second quarter
of Fiscal 2015. The change in tax rate was primarily driven by the change in the level and mix of consolidated pretax
income between operating and valuation allowance jurisdictions. Excluding certain items, as presented above in the
table under "Operating (Loss) Income," the second quarter Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP effective tax rate was
26.8% as compared to 16.0% for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, the effective tax rate was 32.4% as compared to 35.7% for the year-to-date
period of Fiscal 2015. The decrease in rate was primarily due to the change in mix of consolidated pretax income as
well as the recognition of deferred U.S. income taxes on net income generated after October 31, 2015. Excluding
certain items, as presented above in the table under "Operating (Loss) Income," year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted
non-GAAP effective tax rate was 32.8% as compared to 39.7% for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.
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Net (Loss) Income and Net (Loss) Income per Share Attributable to A&F

For the second quarter of Fiscal 2016, net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $13.1 million
and $0.19, respectively, as compared to net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $0.8 million and
$0.01, respectively, for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015. Excluding certain items, as presented above under
"Operating (Loss) Income," and "Income Tax (Benefit) Expense," second quarter Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP net
loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $16.8 million and $0.25, respectively, as compared to
adjusted non-GAAP net income and net income per diluted share attributable to A&F of $8.6 million and $0.12,
respectively, for the second quarter of Fiscal 2015.

For the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2016, net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $52.7
million and $0.78, respectively, as compared to net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F of $64.1
million and $0.92, respectively, for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015. Excluding certain items, as presented above
under "Operating (Loss) Income," and "Income Tax (Benefit) Expense," year-to-date Fiscal 2016 adjusted non-GAAP
net loss and net loss per diluted share attributable to A&F were $56.4 million and $0.83, respectively, as compared to
$28.6 million and $0.41 for the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2015.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

HISTORICAL SOURCES AND USES OF CASH

Seasonality of Cash Flows

The Company’s business has two principal selling seasons: the Spring season which includes the first and second fiscal
quarters (“Spring”) and the Fall season which includes the third and fourth fiscal quarters ("Fall"). As is typical in the
apparel industry, the Company experiences its greatest sales activity during the Fall season due to Back-to-School and
Holiday sales periods. The Company relies on excess operating cash flows, which are largely generated in the Fall
season, to fund operating expenses throughout the year and to reinvest in the business to support future growth. The
Company also has a revolving credit facility available as a source of additional funding.

Asset-Based Revolving Credit Facility

The Company has a senior secured revolving credit facility with availability of up to $400 million (the “ABL Facility”),
subject to a borrowing base. The ABL Facility is available for working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes. The ABL Facility will mature on August 7, 2019. No borrowings were outstanding under the
ABL Facility as of July 30, 2016.

Amounts borrowed under the ABL Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at either an adjusted LIBOR rate
plus a margin of 1.25% to 1.75% per annum, or an alternate base rate plus a margin of 0.25% to 0.75% per annum
based on average historical excess availability during the preceding quarter. The Company is also required to pay a fee
of 0.25% per annum on undrawn commitments under the ABL Facility. Customary agency fees and letter of credit
fees are also payable in respect of the ABL Facility.

As of July 30, 2016, the borrowing base on the ABL Facility was $312.9 million. As of September 1, 2016, the
Company had not drawn on the ABL Facility, but had approximately $1.8 million in outstanding stand-by letters of
credit under the ABL Facility.

Term Loan Facility

The Company is also party to a term loan agreement, which provides for a term loan facility of $300 million (the
“Term Loan Facility” and, together with the ABL Facility, the “2014 Credit Facilities”). The Term Loan Facility was
issued at a $3 million or 1.0% discount. In addition, the Company recorded deferred financing fees associated with the
issuance of the 2014 Credit Facilities of $5.8 million in aggregate, of which $3.2 million was paid to lenders. The
Company is amortizing the debt discount and deferred financing fees over the respective contractual terms of the 2014
Credit Facilities.

The Company's Term Loan debt is presented in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of the unamortized
discount and fees paid to lenders. Net borrowings as of July 30, 2016 were as follows:

(in thousands) July 30,
2016

August 1,
2015

Borrowings, gross at carrying amount $293,250 $297,750
Unamortized discount (2,143 ) (2,571 )
Unamortized fees paid to lenders (4,111 ) (3,328 )
Borrowings, net 286,996 291,851
Less: short-term portion of borrowings, net (1,468 ) (2,017 )
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Long-term portion of borrowings, net $285,528 $289,834

The Term Loan Facility will mature on August 7, 2021 and amortizes at a rate equal to 0.25% of the original principal
amount per quarter, beginning with the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2014. The Term Loan Facility is subject to (a)
beginning in 2016, an annual mandatory prepayment in an amount equal to 0% to 50% of the Company’s excess cash
flows in the preceding fiscal year, depending on the Company’s leverage ratio and (b) certain other mandatory
prepayments upon receipt by the Company of proceeds of certain debt issuances, asset sales and casualty events,
subject to certain exceptions specified therein, including reinvestment rights. The Company was not required to make
any mandatory prepayments under the Term Loan Facility in Fiscal 2016.

At the Company’s option, borrowings under the Term Loan Facility will bear interest at either (a) an adjusted LIBOR
rate no lower than 1.00% plus a margin of 3.75% per annum or (b) an alternate base rate plus a margin of 2.75% per
annum. Customary agency fees are also payable in respect of the Term Loan Facility. The interest rate on borrowings
under the Term Loan Facility was 4.75% as of July 30, 2016.
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Operating Activities

Net cash used by operating activities was $57.9 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 compared to
$20.8 million for the twenty-six weeks ended August 1, 2015. The year-over-year change in cash flow associated with
operating activities was primarily the result of the extension of vendor payment terms in the second quarter of Fiscal
2015 and incentive compensation payments in the first quarter of Fiscal 2016, partially offset by the return of a $22.8
million long-term lease deposit and a $22.4 million decrease in cash paid for income taxes in Fiscal 2016.

Investing Activities

Cash outflows for investing activities for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015 were used
primarily for new construction, store updates, information technology, and direct-to-consumer and omnichannel
capabilities.

Financing Activities

Cash outflows for financing activities consisted primarily of the payment of dividends of $27.0 million and $27.8
million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015, respectively.

As of July 30, 2016, A&F had approximately 6.5 million remaining shares available for repurchase as part of the A&F
Board of Directors’ previously approved authorization.

FUTURE CASH REQUIREMENTS AND SOURCES OF CASH

Over the next twelve months, the Company’s primary cash requirements will be to fund operating activities, including
the acquisition of inventory, and obligations related to compensation, leases, taxes and other operating activities, as
well as to fund capital expenditures, marketing initiatives, quarterly dividends to stockholders subject to approval by
A&F's Board of Directors and debt service requirements, including required repayments, if any, based on annual
excess cash flows, as defined in the term loan agreement. The Company has availability under the ABL Facility as a
source of additional funding.

The Company expects total capital expenditures for Fiscal 2016 to be at the low end of the range of $150 million to
$175 million, primarily for store remodels, new stores, direct-to-consumer and IT investments to support growth
initiatives.

The Company may continue to repurchase shares of its Common Stock and would anticipate funding these cash
requirements utilizing free cash flow generated from operations or proceeds from its existing credit facilities.

As of July 30, 2016, $275.1 million of the Company's $455.6 million of cash and equivalents was held by foreign
affiliates. The Company is not dependent on dividends from its foreign affiliates to fund its U.S. operations or pay
dividends to A&F's stockholders. Unremitted earnings from foreign affiliates generally would become subject to U.S.
income tax if remitted as dividends or lent to A&F or a U.S. affiliate. As of July 30, 2016, a provision for U.S. income
tax has not been recorded on approximately $214 million of the cash and equivalents held by foreign affiliates which
is considered indefinitely invested in foreign operations.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
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The Company uses, in the ordinary course of business, stand-by letters of credit under the existing ABL Facility. The
Company had $1.8 million in stand-by letters of credit outstanding as of July 30, 2016. The Company has no other
off-balance sheet arrangements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The Company’s contractual obligations consist primarily of operating leases, purchase orders for merchandise
inventory, unrecognized tax benefits, certain retirement obligations, lease deposits and other agreements to purchase
goods and services that are legally binding and that require minimum quantities to be purchased. These contractual
obligations impact the Company’s short-term and long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. During the thirteen
weeks ended July 30, 2016, there were no material changes in the contractual obligations as of January 30, 2016, with
the exception of those obligations which occurred in the normal course of business (primarily changes in the
Company’s merchandise inventory-related purchases and lease obligations, which fluctuate throughout the year as a
result of the seasonal nature of the Company’s operations).
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

See Note 1, "BASIS OF PRESENTATION--Recent Accounting Pronouncements" of the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements included in "ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS," of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on
our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 2, “SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA” of A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015. We discuss our critical
accounting estimates in "ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS", in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015. There have
been no significant changes in our significant accounting policies or critical accounting estimates since the end of
Fiscal 2015.
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

The Company cautions that any forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995) contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or made by the Company, its
management or spokespeople involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various important
factors, many of which may be beyond the Company’s control. Words such as “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements.

The following factors, including the disclosures under the heading “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND
RISK FACTORS” in “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS” of A&F’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015, in some
cases have affected and in the future could affect the Company’s financial performance and could cause actual results
for Fiscal 2016 and beyond to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any of the forward-looking
statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or otherwise made by management:

•
changes in global economic and financial conditions, and the resulting impact on consumer confidence and consumer
spending, as well as other changes in consumer discretionary spending habits, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and liquidity;

•our inability to anticipate customer demand and changing fashion trends and to manage our inventory
commensurately could adversely impact our sales levels and profitability;

•
a significant component of our growth strategy is international expansion, which requires significant capital
investment, the success of which is dependent on a number of factors that could affect the profitability of our
international operations;

•direct-to-consumer sales channels are a significant component of our growth strategy, and the failure to successfully
develop our position in these channels could have an adverse impact on our results of operations;

•our market share may be negatively impacted by increasing competition and pricing pressures from companies with
brands or merchandise competitive with ours;

•we have currently suspended our search for a new Chief Executive Officer and the continuance of our interim
governance structure may create uncertainty;

•our inability to successfully implement our strategic plans could have a negative impact on our growth and
profitability;
•our failure to protect our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our brands;
•our business could suffer if our information technology systems are disrupted or cease to operate effectively;

•we may be exposed to risks and costs associated with cyber-attacks, credit card fraud and identity theft that would
cause us to incur unexpected expenses and reputation loss;

•fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely impact our financial condition and results of
operations;

•fluctuations in the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, labor and transportation, could cause manufacturing
delays and increase our costs;

•we depend upon independent third parties for the manufacture and delivery of all our merchandise, and a disruption of
the manufacture or delivery of our merchandise could result in lost sales and could increase our costs;

•our ability to attract customers to our stores depends, in part, on the success of the shopping malls or area attractions
that our stores are located in or around;

• we rely on the experience and skills of our senior executive officers, the loss of whom could have a material
adverse effect on our business;

•our reliance on two distribution centers domestically and third-party distribution centers internationally makes us
susceptible to disruptions or adverse conditions affecting our distribution centers;
•our litigation exposure could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations;
•
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our inability or failure to adequately protect our trademarks could have a negative impact on our brand image and
limit our ability to penetrate new markets;
•fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate may result in volatility in our operating results;

•extreme weather conditions and the seasonal nature of our business may cause net sales to fluctuate and negatively
impact our results of operations;

•
our facilities, systems and stores, as well as the facilities and systems of our vendors and manufacturers, are
vulnerable to natural disasters, pandemic disease and other unexpected events, any of which could result in an
interruption to our business and adversely affect our operating results;

•the impact of war or acts of terrorism could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial
condition;
•changes in the regulatory or compliance landscape could adversely affect our business and results of operations;

•our Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement and our Term Loan Agreement include restrictive covenants that limit
our flexibility in operating our business; and,

•compliance with changing regulations and standards for accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and reported financial results.
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Future economic and industry trends that could potentially impact revenue and profitability are difficult to predict.
Therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties in the forward-looking statements included
herein, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by the Company, or any other
person, that the objectives of the Company will be achieved. The forward-looking statements included herein are
based on information presently available to the management of the Company. Except as may be required by
applicable law, the Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise its forward-looking statements even if
experience or future changes make it clear that any projected results expressed or implied therein will not be realized.

ITEM 3.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Investment Securities

The irrevocable rabbi trust (the “Rabbi Trust”) is intended to be used as a source of funds to match respective funding
obligations to participants in the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan I,
the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Nonqualified Savings and Supplemental Retirement Plan II and the Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan. The Rabbi Trust assets primarily consist of trust-owned life insurance policies which are
recorded at cash surrender value. The change in cash surrender value of the trust-owned life insurance policies held in
the Rabbi Trust resulted in realized gains of $0.8 million for each of the thirteen weeks ended July 30, 2016 and
August 1, 2015 and $1.5 million and $1.6 million for the twenty-six weeks ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015,
respectively, which are recorded in interest expense, net on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss.

The Rabbi Trust assets are included in other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of July 30, 2016
and January 30, 2016, and are restricted in their use as noted above.

Interest Rate Risks

The Company has approximately $293.3 million in gross borrowings outstanding under its term loan facility (the
"Term Loan Facility") and no borrowings outstanding under its senior secured revolving credit facility (the "ABL
Facility" and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the "2014 Credit Facilities"). The 2014 Credit Facilities carry
interest rates that are tied to LIBOR, or an alternate base rate, plus a margin. The interest rate on the Term Loan
Facility has a 100 basis point LIBOR floor, and assuming no changes in the Company’s financial structure as it stands,
an increase in market interest rates of 100 basis points would increase annual interest expense by approximately $2.2
million. This hypothetical analysis for the fifty-two weeks ending January 28, 2017 may differ from the actual change
in interest expense due to various conditions which may result in changes in interest rates under the Company’s 2014
Credit Facilities.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

A&F’s international subsidiaries generally operate with functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Since the
Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. Dollars, the Company must translate
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities from functional currencies into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates in effect
during or at the end of the reporting period. The fluctuation in the value of the U.S. Dollar against other currencies
affects the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. The potential impact of currency fluctuation
increases as international expansion increases.
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A&F and its subsidiaries have exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with foreign
currency transactions and forecasted foreign currency transactions, including the sale of inventory between
subsidiaries and foreign-currency-denominated assets and liabilities. The Company has established a program that
primarily utilizes foreign currency exchange forward contracts to partially offset the risks associated with the effects
of certain foreign currency transactions and forecasted transactions. Under this program, increases or decreases in
foreign currency exposures are partially offset by gains or losses on forward contracts, to mitigate the impact of
foreign currency gains or losses. The Company does not use forward contracts to engage in currency speculation. All
outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts are recorded at fair value at the end of each fiscal period.
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The fair value of outstanding foreign currency exchange forward contracts included in other current assets was $3.6
million and $4.2 million as of July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016, respectively. The fair value of outstanding foreign
currency exchange forward contracts included in other liabilities was $2.9 million as of July 30, 2016. Foreign
currency exchange forward contracts are sensitive to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Company
assessed the risk of loss in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% devaluation of the U.S. Dollar against the
exchange rates for foreign currencies under contract. The results would decrease derivative contract fair values by
approximately $17.5 million. As the Company's foreign currency exchange forward contracts are primarily designated
as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions, the hypothetical change in fair value would be largely offset by the net
change in fair values of the underlying hedged items.

ITEM 4.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

A&F maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the reports that A&F files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to A&F’s management, including the principal executive officer and
the principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Because of
inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.

A&F’s management, including the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F (who serves as
Interim Principal Executive Officer; Principal Financial Officer; and Principal Accounting Officer of A&F), evaluated
the effectiveness of A&F’s design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal
quarter ended July 30, 2016. The Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of A&F (in such individual's
capacity as the Interim Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer of A&F) concluded that A&F’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable level of assurance as of July 30, 2016, the end of the
period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in A&F’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) that occurred during A&F’s fiscal quarter ended July 30, 2016 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, A&F’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits and other adversary proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims and lawsuits are generally expensed as incurred, and
the Company establishes reserves for the outcome of litigation where losses are deemed probable and reasonably
estimable. The Company’s assessment of the current exposure could change in the event of the discovery of additional
facts with respect to legal matters pending against the Company or determinations by judges, juries, administrative
agencies or other finders of fact that are not in accordance with the Company’s evaluation of claims. As of July 30,
2016, the Company had accrued charges of approximately $10 million for certain legal contingencies. In addition,
there are certain claims and legal proceedings pending against the Company for which accruals have not been
established. Actual liabilities may exceed the amounts reserved, and there can be no assurance that final resolution of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

The Company's risk factors as of July 30, 2016 have not changed materially from those disclosed in Part I, "ITEM 1A.
RISK FACTORS" of A&F's Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015. Although there has been no no material
change in the risk factors disclosed in our Form 10-K for Fiscal 2015, certain of such risks may be heightened as a
result of the recent decision by the United Kingdom to leave the European Union ("Brexit"). This decision has
increased uncertainty in the economic and political environment in Europe and, in particular, our business and results
of operations in the United Kingdom may be impacted by fluctuations in currency exchange rates, changes in trade
policies, or changes in labor, immigration, tax or other laws. As of July 30, 2016 A&F operated 34 stores in the
United Kingdom.

ITEM 2.UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

There were no sales of equity securities during the second quarter of Fiscal 2016 that were not registered under the
Securities Act of 1933.

The following table provides information regarding the purchase of shares of Common Stock of A&F made by or on
behalf of A&F or any "affiliated purchaser" as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, during each fiscal month of the thirteen weeks ended July 30, 2016:

Period (Fiscal Month)
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased (1)

Average
Price Paid
per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs (2)

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased under the
Plans or Programs (3)

May 1, 2016 through May 28, 2016 2,760 $ 27.52 — 6,503,656
May 29, 2016 through July 2, 2016 9,062 $ 19.88 — 6,503,656
July 3, 2016 through July 30, 2016 3,114 $ 18.32 — 6,503,656
Total 14,936 $ 20.96 — 6,503,656

(1)
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All of the 14,936 shares of A&F’s Common Stock purchased during the thirteen weeks ended July 30,
2016 represented shares which were withheld for tax payments due upon the exercise of employee stock
appreciation rights and vesting of employee restricted stock units.

(2)
No shares were repurchased during the thirteen weeks ended July 30, 2016 pursuant to A&F's publicly announced
stock repurchase authorization. On August 14, 2012, A&F's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 10.0
million shares of A&F's Common Stock, which was announced on August 15, 2012.

(3)
The number shown represents, as of the end of each period, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that
may yet be purchased under A&F’s publicly announced stock repurchase authorization described in footnote 2
above. The shares may be purchased, from time to time, depending on market conditions.

37

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

56



Table of Contents

ITEM 6.     EXHIBITS
Exhibit No.Document

10.1
Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Stacia Andersen, executed by Ms. Andersen on May 11, 2016,
incorporated herein reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. dated May 23, 2016 and filed on the same date (File No. 1-12107) (the "May 23, 2016 Form 8-K")

10.2
Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Stacia Andersen,
effective as of May 20, 2016, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.3 Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Kristin Scott, executed by Ms. Scott on May 15, 2016,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.4
Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Kristin Scott,
effective as of May 20, 2016, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.5.1
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Abercrombie & Fitch Co.
(Registration No. 333-212060) filed on June 16, 2016

10.5.2
Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016
Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates by the Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on
August 31, 2016*

10.6
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates after June 16, 2016*

10.7

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries, subject to special
non-competition and non-solicitation agreements, under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Associates after June 16, 2016*

10.8
Form of Performance Share Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of performance shares to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan after June 16, 2016*

10.9
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Directors, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (Registration No.
333-212059) filed on June 16, 2016

10.10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
non-associate directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Directors on and after June 16, 2016*

10.11 Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2005
Long-Term Incentive Plan by Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on August 20, 2014*

10.12
Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Amended
and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan by Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on
August 20, 2014*

31

Certifications by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (who serves as Interim Principal
Executive Officer; and Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.*

32
Certifications by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (who serves as Interim Principal
Executive Officer; and Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**
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The following materials from Abercrombie & Fitch Co.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended July 30, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Thirteen and
Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
at July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015; and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements*

*Filed herewith.
**Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO.
Date: September 6, 2016 By/s/ Joanne C. Crevoiserat

Joanne C. Crevoiserat
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Interim Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Authorized Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.Document

10.1
Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Stacia Andersen, executed by Ms. Andersen on May 11, 2016,
incorporated herein reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. dated May 23, 2016 and filed on the same date (File No. 1-12107) (the "May 23, 2016 Form 8-K")

10.2
Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Stacia Andersen,
effective as of May 20, 2016, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.3 Offer Letter from Abercrombie & Fitch to Kristin Scott, executed by Ms. Scott on May 15, 2016,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.4
Executive Agreement entered into between Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co. and Kristin Scott,
effective as of May 20, 2016, the execution date by Abercrombie & Fitch Management Co., incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the May 23, 2016 Form 8-K

10.5.1
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Abercrombie & Fitch Co.
(Registration No. 333-212060) filed on June 16, 2016

10.5.2
Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016
Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates by the Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on
August 31, 2016*

10.6
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Associates after June 16, 2016*

10.7

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries, subject to special
non-competition and non-solicitation agreements, under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Associates after June 16, 2016*

10.8
Form of Performance Share Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of performance shares to
associates (employees) of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. and its subsidiaries under the Abercrombie & Fitch
Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan after June 16, 2016*

10.9
Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan for Directors, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. (Registration No.
333-212059) filed on June 16, 2016

10.10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement used to evidence the grant of restricted stock units to
non-associate directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. under the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2016 Long-Term
Incentive Plan for Directors on and after June 16, 2016*

10.11 Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. 2005
Long-Term Incentive Plan by Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on August 20, 2014*

10.12
Certificate regarding Approval of Amendment of Section 3(b) of the Abercrombie & Fitch Co. Amended
and Restated 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan by Board of Directors of Abercrombie & Fitch Co. on
August 20, 2014*

31

Certifications by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (who serves as Interim Principal
Executive Officer; and Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.*

32
Certifications by Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (who serves as Interim Principal
Executive Officer; and Principal Financial Officer) pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**
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The following materials from Abercrombie & Fitch Co.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended July 30, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Thirteen and
Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015; (ii) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
at July 30, 2016 and January 30, 2016; (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
Twenty-six Weeks Ended July 30, 2016 and August 1, 2015; and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements*

*Filed herewith.
**Furnished herewith.

40

Edgar Filing: ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO /DE/ - Form 10-Q

61


